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                          STATE OF FLORIDA
                 DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS

JOHNNY L. RICHARDSON,              )
                                   )
          Petitioner,              )
                                   )
vs.                                )   CASE NO. 93-1224
                                   )
GROUP TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION,    )
                                   )
          Respondent.              )
___________________________________)

                         RECOMMENDED ORDER

     On June 17, 1993, a formal administrative hearing was held in this case in
Tampa, Florida, before J. Lawrence Johnston, Hearing Officer, Division of
Administrative Hearings.

                             APPEARANCES

     For Petitioner:  Ronald W. Fraley, Esquire
                      Fraley & Fraley, P.A.
                      501 East Kennedy Boulevard, Suite 1225
                      Tampa, Florida  33602

     For Respondent:  Grant D. Peterson, Esquire
                      Haynsworth, Baldwin, Johnson & Harper
                      1408 North Westshore Boulevard, Suite 1000
                      Tampa, Florida  33607

                       STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

     The issue in this case is whether the Florida Commission on Human Relations
should grant the Petition for Relief alleging that the Respondent discriminated
against the Petitioner on the basis of a handicap, or perceived handicap, in
violation of Section 760.10, Fla. Stat. (1991).

                       PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

     On or about October 8, 1991, the Petitioner filed with the Florida
Commission on Human Relations (FCHR) a Charge of Discrimination accusing the
Respondent of discrimination on the basis of a handicap or perceived handicap.
After investigating, the FCHR determined that there was "reasonable cause to
believe" that illegal discrimination had occurred.  The Respondent requested a
redetermination, and the FCHR upheld its earlier determination.  After attempts
at conciliation failed, the Petitioner filed a Petition for Relief, which was
referred to the Division of Administrative Hearings, along with the Respondent's
Answer, on March 1, 1993.  In accordance with the parties' request, final
hearing was scheduled and held in Tampa, Florida, on June 16, 1993.



     At the final hearing, all of the witnesses except one were called during
the Petitioner's case-in-chief.  Besides the Petitioner, all of those witnesses
were employees of the Respondent, and the Respondent presented its case-in-chief
by cross-examinating those witnesses and called one additional witness.

     During the final hearing, the Petitioner also had Petitioner's Exhibits 1
through 12 and 14 through 27 admitted in evidence.  The Respondent had
Respondent's Exhibits 1, 3 through 6, 9, 10, 14, 21 and 22 admitted in evidence.

     The parties ordered the preparation of a transcript of the final hearing
and were given ten days from the filing of the transcript in which to file
proposed recommended orders.  The transcript was filed on August 2, 1993, but
the Petitioner filed an unopposed motion for an extension of time until August
19, 1993, in which to file proposed recommended orders.

     Explicit rulings on the proposed findings of fact contained in the parties'
proposed recommended orders may be found in the attached Appendix to Recommended
Order, Case No. 93-1224.

                          FINDINGS OF FACT

     1.  The Petitioner, Johnny L. Richardson, was a test technician in the
receiving/inspection department of the Respondent, Group Technologies
Corporation, when he became ill, had to be hospitalized, and went on a medical
leave of absence on September 6, 1990.  Before he was able to return to work, in
addition to the illness that resulted in his initial hospitalization, the
Petitioner suffered two pulmonary embolisms that required hospitization and had
a lobectomy (removal of part of one lung).  At the time of his ultimate
discharge from the hospital, the Petitioner was diagnosed with a number of
medical conditions.  He had hypovolemic shock, viral myocarditis, with
cardiomyopathy and right ventricular failure, pulmonary abscesses, congestive
heart failure, leukocytosis, chest wall pain and pleurisy.  In addition, he
already had insulin dependent diabetes mellitus.

     2.  Because of the length of the Petitioner's medical leave of absence, and
the Respondent's needs, the Petitioner's former position in the
receiving/inspection department was filled during his absence, in accordance
with standard company policy.

     3.  The Respondent's treating physicans released him to return to work on
or about July 2, 1991.  At the time, the Respondent was aware of the
Petitioner's preexisting insulin dependent diabetes mellitus, and was generally
aware that the Petitioner's health problems had required hospitalization and a
medical leave of absence.  But the Respondent did not have detailed medical
information concerning the Petitioner's other medical diagnoses.

     4.  On or about July 2, 1991, the Petitioner contacted the Respondent's
staff nurse to advise her that he had been released to return to work.  She made
arrangements for him to be seen on July 8, 1991, by the Respondent's consulting
physician, in accordance with standard procedures for employees on leave of
absence for over 90 days.



     5.  The consulting physician was a specialist in occupational medicine and
had a working knowledge of the Respondent's work place and the jobs performed by
its employees.  He was to use this expertise and knowledge to verify that the
employee could do the job he was to perform and to determine whether any
restrictions or limitations were appropriate in view of the employee's medical
condition.

     6.  The staff nurse also advised the Petitioner to contact the Respondent's
Human Resources Representative (HR Rep) to tell her that his treating physicians
had cleared him to return to work.  The next day, the Petitioner telephoned the
HR Rep, but she was out on vacation until July 8, 1991.

     7.  On or about July 8, 1991, the Petitioner was seen by the company's
consulting physician.  A routine medical examination was conducted, including
taking a history.  The Petitioner told the doctor that he had coronary heart
disease, diabetes, lung abcess and hypertension and was taking various
medications, including Coumadin and Lanoxin for his heart disease, Lasix and
Prednisone for his chronic lung disease and breathing disorders, and insulin for
his diabetes.  He also reported the lobectomy.

     8.  Based on the medical examination, the doctor prepared a report stating
that he needed medical records from the Petitioner's treating physicians and
that the Petitioner would need a job check before reemployment to ascertain the
suitability of the particular job in which he was placed.

     9.  In addition, the report stated that the Petitioner would have to avoid
physical stress and avoid lifting heavy weight.  The report also suggested that
the Petitioner's exposure to chemicals may have to be limited.

     10.  The doctor also filled out and gave the Petitioner a form stating that
the "disposition" of the examination was that the Petitioner was to have "no
duty."  The Petitioner gave this form to the staff nurse, but the evidence is
not clear when.

     11.  On the day of the examination, before the report was sent to the
Respondent's medical office, or even typed, the doctor telephoned a report to
the Respondent's staff nurse.  The nurse in turn telephoned the HR Rep and told
her that, per the doctor's instructions, the Petitioner was not to work with
chemicals and was to limit lifting to 25 pounds.  The HR Rep also was advised
that it would be best for the Petitioner not to work night shifts due to the
medications he was taking.

     12.  As can be seen, the information on the "disposition" form was not
consistent with the information in the written report or with the information in
the telephonic report the staff nurse gave the HR Rep that day.

     13.  The Petitioner also saw the HR Rep on July 8, 1991.  (She had just
returned from vacation.)  It is not clear from the evidence whether, at the time
of her meeting with the Petitioner, the HR Rep already had received the
telephonic report from the company's staff nurse.

     14.  During the Petitioner's meeting with the HR Rep, the HR Rep told the
Petitioner that she would have to determine whether the company had any test
technician positions, or other positions with status and pay commensurate with
the Petitioner's former position, that were open.  Under company policies,
employees returning to work after an extended leave of absence, during which



their former positions were filled, were entitled to be considered for other
positions with status and pay commensurate with the employee's former position,
if any were available.

     15.  The HR Rep reviewed her open requisition lists and determined that
there were no suitable positions open at the time.  (On or about June 28, 1991,
the Respondent had extended job offers, with start dates in early July, to eight
applicants for test technician positions that the company had been in the
process of filling in June.)  She telephoned this information to the Petitioner
on either July 8 or 9, 1991, and told him that she would have to lay him off
with recall rights.

     16.  Actually, company policy provides for laying employees off with recall
rights as a result of reductions in work force.  It does not specifically apply
to the situation where an employee returns to work after an extended leave of
absence, during which the employee's former position was filled, and there are
no positions with status and pay commensurate with the employee's former
position available.  But, since there was no other employment status designated
by personnel policies for such an employee, the company felt that it was
appropriate to lay off such an employee with recall rights.

     17.  Under company policy, an employee who is laid off with recall rights
has a right to be considered for recall before new employees with similar skills
are hired.  This is not a guarantee of reemployment but only right to be
considered for employment before "external candidates" are considered.

     18.  Actually, even under this interpretation of company policies, the
Petitioner should have been laid off with recall rights only if he was ready to
return to duty with restrictions (as indicated in the consulting physician's
written report, and in the telephonic report from the staff nurse to the HR
Rep).  If he was unable to return to duty at that time (as indicated by the
"disposition" form), he should have been continued on medical leave of absence.

     19.  At the conclusion of their meeting on July 8, 1991, the HR Rep told
the Petitioner that he would be contacted if there were any openings for him, or
words to that effect.

     20.  On or about July 12, 1991, the HR Rep became aware of an employee
requisition request with a position with status and pay commensurate with the
Petitioner's former position.  She contacted the hiring supervisor and asked if
he was interested in hiring the Petitioner for the position.  The hiring
supervisor quickly replied that he was not interested in hiring the Petitioner.
Asked why not, he answered that he knew the Petitioner's attendance and
performance history from having worked with the Petitioner in past years, and
from knowing the Petitioner's reputation, he was not interested in hiring him.

     21.  Further specifics about the hiring supervisor's reasons for not
wanting to hire the Petitioner were neither given nor asked for until
approximately January, 1992, which is after the filing of the Charge of
Discrimination in this case.  If asked, the hiring supervisor would have said
that, during a period of time in which they worked together in the early 1980s,
the Petitioner was frequently absent from work, frequently wandered away from
his work station, and frequently could not be found when needed.  Later, in the
late 1980s and early 1990, the hiring supervisor had several occasions to
inquire as to the reason for delays and was told that there was a bottleneck in
the receiving/inspection department because the Petitioner was absent from work
again.



     22.  The Petitioner's absences made it difficult for those depending on the
Petitioner's work to meet production deadlines.  To attempt to deal with the
Petitioner's absences, the company tried to get the employee in the position in
the shifts before and after the Petitioner's shift to work overtime.

     23.  After talking to the hiring supervisor, the HR Rep reported to her
supervisor, who helped her research the Petitioner's personnel file to determine
if there was "reasonable justification" for the hiring supervisor's rejection of
the Petitioner on the basis given to the HR Rep.  They learned from the
Petitioner's personnel records that, on or about May 17, 1990, the Petitioner's
supervisor counseled him that his attendance had to improve.  In June, 1990, the
Petitioner's performance appraisal reflected the attendance problems.  It
indicated some improvement but stated that further improvement was necessary for
the Petitioner's attendance record to be within company norms.  The appraisal
also indicated that the Petitioner's performance no longer was improving, as the
prior year's appraisal indicated it had been.

     24.  It is not clear from the evidence whether the HR Rep and her
supervisor also reviewed the Petitioner's attendance records.  If they had, they
would have also seen that the Petitioner was absent from work a total of 220
hours in 1989, not including 64 hours during plant shutdowns.  From January to
May, 1990, the Petitioner was absent a total of 46 hours, in addition to 124
hours of vacation leave without prior notice.

     25.  After Sumner declined to hire the Petitioner, the HR Rep did not ask
other hiring supervisors to consider the Petitioner for openings before
considering external candidates.  She did not tell the Petitioner that he had
been rejected for the opening on or about July 12, 1991, or that his recall
rights effectively had been terminated (in that she no longer was asking hiring
supervisors to consider the Petitioner for openings before considering external
candidates.)  Nonetheless, the Petitioner was not surprised not to be recalled
because he knew that employees who are laid off with recall rights are rarely
recalled.

     26.  The Petitioner acknowledges that he cannot prove, by direct evidence,
that the Respondent discriminated against the Petitioner on the basis of a
handicap or perceived handicap.  Instead, the Petitioner argues that it should
be inferred from the evidence that the Respondent, first, laid off the
Petitioner instead of maintaining him on medical leave of absence and, second,
did not recall him, in furtherance of plan to terminate his employment because
of his handicap or perceived handicap.

     27.  The inference the Petitioner seeks to have drawn was not proven by a
preponderance of the evidence.  First, as for the decision to lay the Petitioner
off, there is no persuasive evidence that it would have been significantly more
difficult ultimately to terminate the Petitioner's employment if the Petitioner
had been maintained for the time being on medical leave of absence.  Second, as
to the decision not to recall the Petitioner, it was not proven that the
Respondent did not recall the Petitioner for any reason other than the one
articulated by the Respondent--namely, hiring supervisor Sumner rejected him for
the reasons he gave.



     28.  The Respondent is an equal opportunity employer and takes affirmative,
proactive steps to recruit, hire and retain minorities and handicapped persons.
It has completed required affirmative action plans, does adverse impact analyses
on a semiannual basis, and advertises and recruits from agencies that deal with
disabled persons.

     29.  While the Respondent did not hire the Petitioner back after his
extended medical leave of absence, it has hired others back after medical leaves
of absence of 90 days or more.  One employee was hired back after heart
catheterization and coronary bypass surgery.  Another was hired back after
rupturing a disc and having back surgery.  Both were returned to work with
restrictions, after seeing the same consulting physician the Petitioner saw.
Their medical conditions were at least as susceptible of being perceived as
being handicaps as the Petitioner's.  In both of those cases, the employee was
able to be returned to the positions from which they had to take leave; they did
not have to be laid off.

     30.  Conversely, other employees who had not been on medical leave of
absence but were laid off with recall rights in connection with a reduction in
work force also have not been recalled.  Three such employees who were laid off
during the August, 1990, reduction in force were not even recommended to hiring
supervisors for suitable positions that came open during the period of time in
which their recall rights were effective, even though they were technically more
qualified for the positions, based on their higher job grade levels, than the
people ultimately hired for the jobs.  The reason they were not recalled was
that they had been laid off because their job performance ranked them at the
bottom of the "totem pole" of employees subject to possible layoff in the
reduction in force.

     31.  The Petitioner survived the August, 1990, reduction in force because,
based on need, no reduction was made in the receiving/inspection department.  If
there had been, the Petitioner would have been the first to be laid off due his
rank at the bottom of the "totem pole" for the test technician positions in his
department.

     32.  The failure to notify the Petitioner that he had been considered by a
hiring supervisor, in accordance with his recall rights, and had been rejected,
or that his recall rights effectively were terminated, arguably may have been
against company policy, may have been bad employee relations, or may have been
simply rude and inconsiderate.  But none of those possibilities would
constitute, nor do they prove, discrimination on the basis of handicap or
perceived handicap.

                        CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

     33.  Section 760.10(1), Fla. Stat. (1991), makes it unlawful to
discriminate against an individual with respect to terms, conditions or
privileges of employment because of the individual's handicap.

     34.  In a case such as this, the Petitioner initially has the burden to at
least prove a prima facie case of illegal discrimination.  If a prima facie case
is proven, the burden shifts to the Respondent to articulate legitimate
nondiscriminatory reasons for the alleged disparate treatment or adverse action
taken against the Petitioner.  Then the burden returns to the Petitioner to
prove that the articulated reasons are a mere pretext for intentional
discrimination.  See Texas Dept. of Community Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248,
253, 101 S.Ct. 1089, 1093, 67 L.Ed.2d 207 (1981).



     35.  As reflected in the Findings of Fact in this case, the Petitioner did
not prove that the Respondent took any adverse employment action against the
Petitioner because of the Petitioner's handicap or any perception by the
Respondent that the Petitioner was handicapped.  It was as, or more, probable
that the Respondent laid the Petitioner off, in accordance with the Respondent's
good faith interpretation its own personnel policies, because it believed the
Petitioner's medical leave of absence had terminated and there were no suitable
positions available.  It also was as, or more, probable that the Respondent did
not recall the Petitioner because the Respondent believed the Petitioner's job
performance did not merit recall.

                          RECOMMENDATION

     Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, it is
recommended that the Florida Commission on Human Relations enter a final order
dismissing the Petition for Relief in this case.

     RECOMMENDED this 15th day of September, 1993, in Tallahassee, Florida.

                            _________________________________
                            J. LAWRENCE JOHNSTON
                            Hearing Officer
                            Division of Administrative Hearings
                            The Oakland Building
                            2009 Apalachee Parkway
                            Tallahassee, Florida  32399-1550
                            (904) 488-9675

                            Filed with the Clerk of the
                            Division of Administrative Hearings
                            this 15th day of September, 1993.

         APPENDIX TO RECOMMENDED ORDER, CASE NO. 93-1224

     To comply with the requirements of Section 120.59(2), Fla. Stat. (1991),
the following rulings are made on the parties' proposed findings of fact:

     Petitioner's Proposed Findings of Fact.

     1.-6.  Accepted and incorporated to the extent not subordinate or
unnecessary.
     7.  Penultimate sentence, rejected as not proven.  Otherwise, accepted and
incorporated to the extent not subordinate or unnecessary.
     8.  Accepted and incorporated to the extent not subordinate or unnecessary.
     9.  Third sentence, rejected as not proven.  Otherwise, accepted and
incorporated to the extent not subordinate or unnecessary.
     10.-12.  Accepted and incorporated to the extent not subordinate or
unnecessary.
     13.  As to second sentence, not necessarily all such employees see Myint on
returning.  It depends on the staff nurse's judgment as to the necessity.  Third
sentence, rejected as not proven.  Otherwise, accepted and incorporated to the
extent not subordinate or unnecessary.
     14.-16.  Accepted and incorporated to the extent not subordinate or
unnecessary.



     17.  Rejected as not proven that the policy itself "entitled" the
Petitioner; rather, it was the Respondent's favorable interpretation of the
policy.  Otherwise, accepted and incorporated to the extent not subordinate or
unnecessary.
     18.-19.  Accepted and incorporated to the extent not subordinate or
unnecessary.
     20.  As to the last sentence, Sumner gave some specifics at the time, but
not many, as reflected in the Findings of Fact.  Otherwise, accepted and
incorporated to the extent not subordinate or unnecessary.
     21.-23.  Accepted and incorporated to the extent not subordinate or
unnecessary.  (However, as to 22, at least the last time, everyone under
Gonzalez got a "merit" increase, and the Petitioner got the smallest raise
because his job performance ranked him the lowest on the "totem pole.")
     24.  First sentence, accepted and incorporated.  The rest is rejected as
subordinate to facts contrary to those found.
     25.-27.  In part accepted, but in part rejected.
     Rejected as not proven that the Petitioner was not considered for the July
12, 1991, opening.  Sumner did consider the Petitioner and rejected him.  The
consideration given to the Petitioner, and the justification for the rejection
known to Sumner and Wilson, may or may not have been "reasonable."  But, if not
"reasonable," their actions did not prove discrimination on the basis of
handicap or perceived handicap.
     Rejected as not proven that Wilson "considered Richardson a potential
problem employee because of his long illness."
     Rejected as not proven that the Respondent ever considered the Petitioner
"unqualified."
     Rejected as not proven that the Respondent discriminated against the
Petitioner on the basis of handicap or perceived handicap.
     Rejected in part as argument.
     Otherwise, generally accepted and incorporated to the extent not
subordinate or unnecessary.
     28.-32.  Accepted but generally subordinate and unnecessary.

     Respondent's Proposed Findings of Fact.

     1.-7.  Accepted and incorporated to the extent not subordinate or
unnecessary.
     8.  Rejected as contrary to the greater weight of the evidence that his
"performance" declined.  Rather, the appraisal would indicate that the rate of
improvement in his performance had declined.
     9.-20.  Accepted and incorporated to the extent not subordinate or
unnecessary.
     21.-23.  Generally, accepted and incorporated to the extent not subordinate
or unnecessary.  (The information imparted by the doctor was somewhat
ambiguous.)
     24.-31.  Generally, accepted and incorporated to the extent not subordinate
or unnecessary.  The consideration given to the Petitioner, and the
justification for the rejection known to Sumner and Wilson, may or may not have
been "reasonable."  And the Respondent's failure to notify the Petitioner that
he had been considered by a hiring supervisor, in accordance with his recall
rights, and had been rejected, or that his recall rights effectively were
terminated, arguably may have been against company policy, may have been bad
employee relations, or may have been simply rude and inconsiderate.  But, as
found, those actions did not prove discrimination on the basis of handicap or
perceived handicap.
     32.-34.  Accepted and incorporated to the extent not subordinate or
unnecessary.
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              NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS

All parties have the right to submit to the Florida Commission on Human
Relations written exceptions to this Recommended Order.  All agencies allow each
party at least ten days in which to submit written exceptions.  Some agencies
allow a larger period within which to submit written exceptions.  You should
consult with the Florida Commission on Human Relations concerning its rules on
the deadline for filing exceptions to this Recommended Order.
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                          STATE OF FLORIDA
                 DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS

MARY E. JOHNSON,              )
                              )
          Petitioner,         )
                              )
vs.                           )   CASE NO. 93-1556
                              )   FCHR NO. 92-2189
ORMOND BEACH MEMORIAL         )
HOSPITAL,                     )
                              )
          Respondent.         )
______________________________)

                          RECOMMENDED ORDER

     Pursuant to notice, the above matter was heard before the Division of
Administrative Hearings by its duly designated Hearing Officer, Stephen F. Dean,
on July 21, 1993, in Daytona Beach, Florida.

                             APPEARANCES

     For Petitioner:  Ms. Dorothy Johnson
                      1807 Golfview Boulevard
                      South Daytona, Florida  32119

     For Respondent:  Gary E. Thomas, Esquire
                      FISHER & PHILLIPS
                      1500 Resurgens Plaza
                      945 East Paces Ferry Road
                      Atlanta, Georgia  30326

                       STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

     Whether Petitioner, Mary E. Johnson, was discriminated against by her
discharge from her position as a Certified Nurse Assistant by Respondent, Ormond
Beach Memorial Hospital (Hospital), on November 21, 1991, because of her
handicap, clinical depression, in violation of Section 760.10, Florida Statutes.

                       PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

     Petitioner filed a complaint of discrimination with the Florida Commission
on Human Relations (Commission) on April 13, 1992.  She alleged that she was
discriminated against on the basis of her perceived handicap, clinical
depression, when she was discharged from her position as a Certified Nursing
Assistant by Respondent on November 21, 1991.  The Respondent filed a timely
response to the complaint.

     On November 23, 1992, Executive Director, Ronald M. McElrath, issued the
Commission's determination finding that there was no reasonable cause to believe
that an unlawful employment practice had occurred.  Petitioner filed a request
for redetermination on December 4, 1992, and the Executive Director again
responded with a "no cause" finding.



     On March 18, 1993, Petitioner filed her Petition for Relief.  Respondent
filed its Answer on April 12, 1993.

     At the July 21, 1993 formal hearing of the merits of this case, Petitioner
presented the following witnesses in support of her case:  Mary E. Johnson;
Johnette Vodenicker, Vice President of Nursing Services; Diane McCall, Director
of Medical/Surgical Nursing (formerly Assistant Director of Nursing); Debbie
Peterson, Registered Nurse at the Hospital; Barbara Burns, Nurse Manager of Six
South at the Hospital; and Deanna Bowen, Registered Nurse at the Hospital.
Petitioner had several documents marked for identification, although none were
entered into evidence.

     Respondent called the following witnesses to testify in this matter:
Johnette Vodenicker, Vice President of Nursing Services; Diane McCall, Director
of Medical/Surgical Nursing (formerly Assistant Director of Nursing); and Paula
Canelli, Registered Nurse at the Hospital.  Respondent's Exhibits 1-18 were
marked for identification and admitted into evidence.

     The Hearing Officer also marked for identification, and entered into
evidence as Hearing Officer's Exhibit 1, the charging document on which
Petitioner was discharged by Respondent.

     Respondent asserts that a transcript of the hearing was filed on August 2,
1993; however, the transcript was not filed with DOAH until September 1, 1993.
The parties' posthearing Proposed Recommended Orders were due on August 12,
1993.  Proposed findings were submitted by both parties which were read and
considered.  Appendix A states which of the parties' proposed findings were
accepted, and which were rejected and why.

                         FINDINGS OF FACT

     1.  Petitioner worked as an on-call Nurse Assistant for Respondent.  On
call employees were guaranteed no certain amount of hours and no benefits were
provided to them.  On call employees were called to work when patient census was
high, and were the first to be cancelled when the census was low.  Vodenicker,
Tr. 29 (1. 20-25) - 30 (1. 1-19); Johnson, Tr. 31 (1. 4-5).

     2.  On November 21, 1991, Respondent discharged Petitioner from her
position as a Certified Nursing Assistant at the Hospital.  Hearing Officer's
Exhibit 1.

     3.  Petitioner had been hospitalized the majority of May 1991 for clinical
depression.  She returned to work at the Hospital following her hospitalization
and was not hospitalized again prior to her discharge, although she did continue
to have problems with depression.  Johnson, Tr. 33 (1. 18-25) - 34 (1. 1-14).

     4.  Ms. Vodenicker, Vice President of Nursing Services, became aware that
Petitioner had been hospitalized for clinical depression during a counseling
session on August 20, 1991.  Ms. Sally Cole, Nurse Manager of Six North, was
also present during this meeting.  Johnson, Tr. 53 (1. 23-24); Vodenicker, Tr.
120 (1. 8-16), Tr. 121 (1. 9-17), Tr. 133 (1. 8-11).



     5.  In early May, Diane McCall, Assistant Director of Nursing, was told by
Dorothy Johnson, Petitioner's mother, that Petitioner was depressed and had been
hospitalized.

McCall, Tr. 78 (1. 23-25) - 79 (1. 1-8).

     6.  Petitioner never discussed her clinical depression with Ms. McCall.
McCall, Tr. 79 (1. 9-14); Johnson, Tr. 51 (1. 5-7).

     7.  Petitioner's psychiatrist, Dr. Oh, had no conversations with anyone at
the Hospital regarding Petitioner's clinical depression.  Johnson, Tr. 38 (1.
13-15).  As a physician practicing in the area, the nurses and staff were
familiar with his specialty, and some of the Petitioner's supervisor's knew Dr.
Oh was treating the Petitioner.

     8.  Petitioner did not inform any members of the Hospital's nursing staff
that she was suffering from clinical depression.  Johnson, Tr. 50 (1. 19-22).

     9.  Ms. Burns, one of Petitioner's supervisors, was not aware that
Petitioner suffered from clinical depression.  Johnson, Tr. 51 (1. 14-16);
Burns, Tr. 182 (1. 16-19).

     10.  Ms. Bowen, Nurse Manager of Six South, had no knowledge that
Petitioner suffered from clinical depression.  Johnson, Tr. 52 (1. 10-12);
Bowen, Tr. 185 (1. 9-17).

     11.  In her capacity as Team Leader and/or Charge Nurse, Ms. Canelli had
occasion to supervise Ms. Johnson's work.  Ms. Canelli described Petitioner's
performance as "erratically efficient" because sometimes Petitioner was "very
good at her job and at other times she was less than adequate".  Canelli, Tr. 83
(1. 4-15).

     12.  In early May 1991, Petitioner was counseled by Ms. Vodenicker
regarding her personal interactions with a coworker, Brad Van Buren.  Ms.
Vodenicker cautioned Petitioner to keep her personal life separate from her
business life at the Hospital.  Johnson, Tr. 57 (1. 15-25) - 58 (1. 1-15).

     13.  On July 20th, Ms. Canelli counseled Petitioner regarding the deficient
level of care she had provided to a "total-care patient" (i.e., a patient who
cannot feed, bathe or move themselves in bed) on July 2nd.  Ms. Canelli
discovered the patient "lying in a puddle of stool," and located Petitioner
sitting at the nurses station holding her pocketbook and waiting to leave for
the day, even though there was still 20-25 minutes left until the end of the
shift.  Ms. Canelli instructed Petitioner to clean up the patient.  About ten
minutes later, Ms. Canelli went back into the patient's room and discovered that
the patient had apparently been wiped off with a dry cloth but had not been
bathed.   This was evident because there was still stool on the patient's
pillow, dressings, and leg.  Ms. Canelli summoned another Nurse Assistant, and
they cleaned up the patient.  Ms. Canelli counseled Petitioner regarding this
incident on the next available opportunity she had to work with her, and she
also documented the incident.  Canelli, Tr. 83 (1. 21-25) - 84 (1. 1-17) - 85
(1. 4-25) -86 (1. 1-23);  Respondent's Exhibits 6 and 7.



     14.  On August 20th, Ms. Vodenicker had a second counseling session with
Petitioner concerning Mr. Van Buren, following a complaint by Mr. Van Buren that
Petitioner had been following him around in her car and that she had been seen
in the Hospital parking lot watching him as he came on duty on the evening of
August 19th.  Vodenicker, Tr. 118 (1. 10-14).

     15.  On October 27th, Ms. Canelli counseled Petitioner about Petitioner's
absence from her assigned floor when she could not be located by the nursing
staff, even after she was paged over the Hospital paging system.  Ms. Canelli
documented the events surrounding this counseling session on October 28th, to
include several prior instances in which the nursing staff had been unable to
locate Petitioner on her assigned floor.  Canelli, Tr. 88 (1. 2-25) - 89 (1. 1-
8) - 102 (1. 1-25) - 103 (1. 1-3); Respondent's Exhibit 8.

     16.  Ms. Vodenicker requested that Ms. Cole, Nurse Manager of Six North,
escort Petitioner to Ms. Vodenicker's office in order to discuss the situation
and to get Petitioner's side of the story.  Ms. Cole sat in on the meeting as a
witness.

     17.  Ms. Vodenicker reminded Petitioner of their previous discussion
regarding Mr. Van Buren and told Petitioner to keep her business and personal
lives separate.  Ms. Vodenicker also took this opportunity to discuss other
problems with Petitioner's job performance.  Vodenicker, Tr. 119 (1. 15-25) -
120 (1. 1-7); Johnson, Tr. 58 (1. 18-25) - 59 (1. 1-10).

     18.  Because Petitioner's actions were in violation of the directives that
Ms. Vodenicker had previously discussed with Petitioner in May, Ms. Vodenicker a
wrote a disciplinary report.  Johnson, Tr. 121 (1. 20-24).

     19.  On August 21st, Ms. McCall presented Petitioner with the disciplinary
report in the presence of Ms. McCall.  Petitioner refused to sign the document,
and Ms. Vodenicker made a notation of this fact on the face of the document and
forwarded the original to the Hospital's personnel department.  Vodenicker, Tr.
121 (1. 25) - 122 (1. 1-23) - 146 (1. 10-25) - 147 (1. 1-3); McCall, Tr. 156 (1.
22-25) - 157 (1. 1-11); Johnson, Tr. 59 (1. 11-25) - 60 (1. 1-4); Respondent's
Exhibit 3.

     20.  Ms. Burns counseled Petitioner after the Petitioner failed to answer a
page and could not be found when Ms. Burns undertook a personal search for
Petitioner.  Petitioner later stated that she had taken a patient to x-ray;
however, when Ms. Burns called the x-ray department, no one remembered seeing
Petitioner in that area.  Ms. Burns counseled Petitioner regarding leaving her
assigned floor without notifying proper personnel and documented the incident.
Burns, Tr. 176 (1. 4-23) - 177 (1. 22-25) - 178 (1. 1-17) - 179 (1. 3-25) - 180
(1. 1-10) - 181 (1. 14-16) - 182 (1. 9-15).

     21.  On October 26, 1991,  Petitioner was working under Ms. Peterson's
supervision.  Ms. Peterson observed that, while on a supposed 15-minute break at
8:15 a.m., Petitioner did not return until nearly 9:15 a.m. Ms. Peterson
documented the incident after consulting with her supervisor.  No one at the
Hospital had instructed Ms. Peterson to keep an eye on Petitioner.  Peterson,
Tr. 172 (1. 12-23) - 173 (1. 18-25) - 174 (1. 1-6) - 175 (1. 1-3); Respondent's
Exhibit 17.



     22.  On November 2, 1991, Ms. McCall counseled Petitioner regarding being
absent from her assigned floor, and limiting her breaks to 15 minutes and lunch
breaks to one-half hour.  Ms. McCall instructed Petitioner not to leave the
floor unless directed to do so by the Charge Nurse or Team Leader.  Ms.  McCall
documented her counseling Petitioner in her personnel file.  McCall, Tr. 149 (1.
19-25) - 150 (1. 1-18); Respondent's Exhibit 14.

     23.  On November 10, 1991, Petitioner was assigned to assist patient Joan
Cummings.  Patient Cummings was an "NPO" patient, meaning that she could not
receive any of her fluids and medications by mouth.  Petitioner forgot to
measure the patient's urine output prior to emptying her bedpan.  Canelli, Tr.
92 (1. 18-25). Johnson, Tr. 40 (1. 2-8) - 66 (1. 23-25) - 67 (1. 1-5).

     24.  After forgetting to measure patient Cummings' urine, Petitioner asked
the patient how many times she had urinated.  The patient informed her that she
had voided three (3) times, and Petitioner multiplied that number by 200 cc's to
arrive at a figure of 600 cc's.  Petitioner recorded 600 cc's as patient output
on the intake/output slip, and which was ultimately recorded on the patient's
daily log form located on a clipboard outside the patient's door.  The
information was later transcribed onto the patient's chart.  Johnson, Tr. 40 (1.
10-25) - 42 (1. 4-25) - 43 (1. 1-12).

     25.  The Nurse Assistant assigned to the patient is responsible for an
accurate intake and output measurement as recorded on the patient's
intake/output slips and daily log sheets.  The information recorded on these
Hospital documents are relied upon as accurate by the entire nursing staff.  The
information is transferred onto the patient's graphic charts by the nurse, or
nursing assistant or nursing team leader, depending on who has time.  Canelli,
Tr. 112 (1. 8-25) - 113 (1. 1-3); Bowen, Tr. 184 (1. 3-8).

     26.  By substituting 200 cc's in the place of the BRP designation,
Petitioner failed to follow the procedures as described to her by Ms. Canelli.
Petitioner had never been instructed by anyone at the Hospital to substitute 200
cc's for actual measurement.  Johnson, Tr. 44 (1. 21-25) - 45 (1. 1) - 47 (1.
15-25) - 48 (1. 1-19) - 49 (1. 1-6); Canelli, Tr. 99 (1. 2-8).

     27.  It would not be proper for a nurse or nurse assistant to multiply the
number of times a patient had voided by 200 cc's, and use that number as an
accurate representation of the amount of urine output by the patient.  Canelli,
Tr. 91 (1. 9-14).

     28.  Petitioner's "Nursing Skill Evaluation" form reveals that she received
training on the use of intake/output sheets, including the accurate measuring of
cleaning of these items, although she cannot recall what instructions she
received.  Johnson, Tr. 64 (1. 7-25) - 65 (1. 1), (1. 14-17); Respondent's
Exhibit 4.

     29.  An accompanying self-evaluation form also reveals that Petitioner
indicated that she felt comfortable with charting elimination of bedpan fluids
and with the accurate measuring and cleaning of the graduated pitcher.  Johnson,
Tr. 67 (1. 12-25) - 68 (1. 1-12); Respondent's Exhibit 5.

     30.  Ms. Canelli instructed her Nurse Assistants to inform the Team Leader,
whenever they had forgotten to measure a patient's urine output and to let their
Team Leader know the number of times the patient had voided so that the staff
would have some idea that the patient had voided and chart that the urine had
not measured.  Canelli, Tr. 91 (1. 17-25).



     31.  Petitioner's substitution of her estimate of urine output was contrary
to acceptable charting practice.

     32.  Petitioner had been instructed by Ms. Canelli, who regularly performed
Team Leader and Charge Nurse duties, to document instances in which she had
forgotten to measure a patient's output by writing the number of times the
patient had voided beside the designation "BRP" (bathroom privileges).  Johnson,
Tr. 43 (1. 25) - 44 (1. 1-20).

     33.  On November 10, 1991, patient Cummings reported to Ms. Canelli that
Petitioner had dumped her bedpan without measuring the urine output after the
Petitioner had left at the end of her shift.  Ms. Canelli documented the facts
related to her by the patient in a report to her team leader, Ms. Bowen.
Canelli, Tr. 94 (1. 22-25) - 95 (1. 1-3); Respondent's Exhibit 9.

     34.  Petitioner admits that the nurses rely on the information recorded on
the intake/output slips and daily logs as being accurate representations of the
actual amount of fluids measured by the Nurse Assistants.  Johnson, Tr. 43 (1.
13-15).

     35.  Nurse Bowen was the Team Leader on Six North on November 10, 1991.
Ms. Bowen spoke with Ms. Cummings, who advised her that Petitioner had failed to
measure her urine output before emptying the bedpan.  Ms. Bowen also documented
the patient's complaint in a report.  Bowen, Tr. 184 (1. 9-19).

     36.  Nurse McCall was advised of the Cummings incident when she returned to
work after the weekend.

     37.  Ms. McCall brought the incident involving patient Cummings to the
attention of Ms. Vodenicker.  In reviewing patient Cummings' medical file, Ms.
Vodenicker was very concerned about Petitioner's inaccurate recording of patient
information.  Ms. Vodenicker opined that it was very important that the Hospital
be able to trust what its health-care employees tell them and have confidence
that the employees have done what they say they have done.  Vodenicker, Tr. 123
(1. 9-20) - 124 (1. 7-16).

     38.  Ms. Vodenicker was already aware of Petitioner's performance, as well
as the prior written corrective action which she had given Petitioner.  She
reviewed Petitioner's personnel file, performance appraisals, and met with Nurse
McCall, Petitioner's immediate supervisor, in order to analyze this matter
further.  Ms. Vodenicker decided in view of the decline in Petitioner's
performance, the verbal and written counseling she had received from the
supervisory staff, the prior corrective action which had been issued, and the
recent incident involving patient Cummings that a decision was required
regarding Petitioner's further employment.  Vodenicker, Tr. 124 (1. 20-25) - 125
(1. 1-3).

     39.  Ms. Vodenicker discussed the matter with Nurse McCall and asked that
she provide her with a recommendation.  Nurse McCall recommended Petitioner's
discharge based upon the incident involving patient Cummings and Petitioner's
declining work performance.  Vodenicker, Tr. 125 (1. 8-18); McCall, Tr. 153 (1.
10-25) - 154 (1. 1-11) - 157 (1. 24-25) - 158 (1. 1); Respondent's Exhibit 13.

     40.  Petitioner's annual performance evaluation reflected that there had
been a demonstrable demise in her overall performance over the course of her
first year of employment.  McCall, Tr. 155 (1. 4-21).



     41.  The decision to discharge Petitioner was not communicated to
Petitioner until November 21st, mainly because of the time that it took Ms.
Vodenicker to conduct her review of the situation and discuss the proposed
disciplinary action with her superiors.  Petitioner was not called to work due
to low patient census on November 15, 18, and 20, 1991.  Vodenicker, Tr. 125 (1.
23-25) - 126 (1. 1-18) - 144 (1. 1-6).

     42.  On November 21, 1991,  Ms. Vodenicker met with the Petitioner and
reviewed the incident involving patient Cummings with Petitioner.  Petitioner
admitted to Ms. Vodenicker that she had forgotten to measure the patient's urine
output and had documented the output as 600 cc's.

     43.  Ms. Vodenicker expressed her concern over Petitioner's failure to
properly chart patient information, and Petitioner's declining work performance.
Ms. Vodenicker then terminated  the Petitioner.  Vodenicker, Tr. 126 (1. 19-25)
- 127 (1. 1-8); Johnson, Tr. 189 (1. 22-25) - 190 (1. 1-19); Hearing Officer
Exhibit 1.

     44.  Petitioner states she does not wish to return to the Hospital as a
Nurse Assistant at this time for health reasons.  Johnson, Tr. 50 (1. 3-13).

                        CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

     45.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has jurisdiction over the
parties to and the subject matter of this proceeding.  Section 120.57(1),
Florida Statutes.

     46.  Section 760.10(1), Florida Statutes, makes it an unlawful employment
practice for an employer to discriminate against a person because of that
person's handicap.  Chapter 760, Florida Statutes, is patterned after Title VII
of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. Section 2000(e), et seq., ("Title
VII").  Hargis v. School Board of Leon County, 400 So.2d  103, 108 n.2 (Fla. 1st
DCA 1981).  Federal precedent construing the similar provisions of Title VII are
accorded great deference.  Pasco County School Board v. Perc, 353 So.2d 108, 116
(Fla. 1st DCA 1979); Wood v. K-Mart Corp., 10 FALR 6189 (FCHR 1985).

     47.  The Supreme Court established and later clarified the burden of proof
in disparate treatment cases in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792
(1973), and Texas Department of Community Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248
(1981).  The FCHR has adopted this evidentiary model.  Kilpatrick v. Howard
Johnson Co., 7 FALR 5468, 5475 (FCHR 1985).  McDonnell Douglas places upon the
plaintiff the initial burden of proving a prima facie case of discrimination.
Where a discriminatory discharge is claimed, the plaintiff must prove (1) the
plaintiff is qualified for the position; (2) she was discharged; and (3) she was
replaced by a person outside the protected class.  Lee v. Russell County Board
of Education, 684 F.2d 769 (11th Cir. 1982); Maggio v. Martin Marietta
Aerospace, 9 FALR 2168 (FCHR 1986).

     48.  Proving a prima facie is not, however, the equivalent of a factual
finding of discrimination.  See Teamsters v. U.S., 431 U.S. 324, 358 and n.44
(1977).  Discriminatory animus is inferred because experience has proved in the
absence of any other explanation is more likely than not that those actions were
bottomed on impermissible considerations.  The presumption is that more often
than not people do not act in a totally arbitrary manner, without any underlying
reason, in a business setting.  Furnco Construction Corp. v. Waters, 438 U.S.
567, 576 (1978).



     49.  Once the plaintiff has succeeded in proving all of the elements
necessary to establish a prima facie case, the employer must then articulate
some legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the challenged employment
decision.  The employer is required only "to produce admissible evidence which
would allow the trier of fact to conclude that the employment had not been
motivated by discriminatory animus".  Burdine, 450 U.S. at 257.  The employer
"need not persuade the court that it was actually motivated by the proffered
reasons . . . it is sufficient if the [employer's] evidence raises a genuine
issue of fact as to whether it discriminated against the Plaintiff".  Id. at
254, 255.  This burden is characterized as "exceedingly light".  Perryman v.
Johnson Products, Inc., 698 F.2d 1138 (11th Cir. 1983).

     50.  Once the employer articulates a legitimate reason for the action
taken, the evidentiary burden shifts back to the plaintiff who must prove that
the reason offered by the employer for its decision is not the true reason but
is merely a pretext.  The employer need not prove that it was actually motivated
by the articulated nondiscriminatory reasons.  Burdine, 450 U.S. at 257-58.  In
Burdine, the Supreme Court emphasized that the ultimate burden of persuading the
trier of fact that the defendant intentionally discriminated against the
plaintiff remains at all times with the plaintiff.  Id. at 253.  The court
confirmed this principle in Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins, 490 U.S. 228 (1989).

     51.  In Price Waterhouse, the court examined the parties' respective
burdens of persuasion where the plaintiff has proven with direct evidence that
the employer was actually motivated by discriminatory animus.  A plurality of
the court held that in such a case, the employer must prove by a preponderance
of the evidence that it would have made the same decision even if the
discriminatory animus had not been a motivating part of its decision.  The court
cautions, however, that the holding does not alter the Burdine burden of proof
allocation.  An employer only bears the burden of persuasion after the plaintiff
has proven discriminatory motivation.  In a concurring opinion, Justice O'Connor
explained that the application of this rule is limited to mixed-motive cases,
that is, where the employer has created substantial uncertainty as to the
causation by knowingly giving substantial weight to an impermissible criterion.

     52.  In the instant case, Petitioner failed to show she was replaced by
someone outside the class; however, even if it is assumed that Petitioner has
carried her burden of proof in establishing a prima facie case of improperly
motivated discharge, the Respondent introduced evidence that it had other
legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons to discharge the Petitioner.

     53.  In summary, the record contains ample evidence of Respondent's
legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons for terminating Petitioner's employment.
See also Ross v. Beaumont Hospital, 1 A.D. Cases 1296, 1299 (E.D. Mich. 1988).

     54.  In the present case, Petitioner's personnel file was contained
numerous instances of performance deficiencies.  The testimony independently
confirmed the matters which were contained in Petitioner's personnel file
regarding her deficiencies in patient care, missing from her assigned floor,
taking extended breaks, and the incident involving patient Cummings.  The
performance-related incidents were not rebutted by Petitioner.



     55.  Petitioner failed to present any proof of pretext with respect to her
discharge.  She does not deny the incident involving patient Cummings.  It was
this incident which precipitated Petitioner's discharge.  Medical charting is
very important, because of the employer's necessity to rely on its employees to
chart properly.

     56.  Petitioner has presented no evidence which casts doubt upon the
Hospital's legitimate, nondiscriminatory basis for termination.

     57.  In summary, Respondent's legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons for its
employment decisions remain unrebutted by Petitioner.  Petitioner's attempt to
show that the concerns of Respondent were either unjustified or pretext for
discriminating against Petitioner has no support in the record.  Pretext cannot
be inferred from the record.  Petitioner has failed to prove that Respondent's
decision-making was motivated by her handicap.

                          RECOMMENDATION

     Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, it is

     RECOMMENDED that the Commission on Human Relations issue a Final Order
finding that Petitioner has failed to prove a violation of Section 760.10,
Florida Statutes.

     DONE AND ENTERED this 17th day of September, 1993, in Tallahassee, Florida.

                            _________________________________
                            STEPHEN F. DEAN
                            Hearing Officer
                            Division of Administrative Hearings
                            The Oakland Building
                            2009 Apalachee Parkway
                            Tallahassee, Florida  32399-1550
                            (904) 488-9675

                            Filed with the Clerk of the
                            Division of Administrative Hearings
                            this 17th day of September, 1993

         APPENDIX TO RECOMMENDED ORDER, CASE NO. 93-1556

     The following constitute specific rulings, pursuant to S120.59(2), F.S.,
upon the parties' respective proposed findings of fact (PFOF).

Respondent's PFOF:

1-7       Adopted.
8-9       Irrelevant.
10-17     Adopted.
18-19     Irrelevant.
20-27     Adopted.
28        Irrelevant.
29-32     Adopted.
33        Rejected as contrary to the best evidence.
34-42     Adopted.



43-44     Subsumed in 24 and other paragraphs.
45-50     Adopted.
51-56     Subsumed in 41.
57        Adopted.

Petitioner's PFOF:

1-End     Rejected and contrary to the best evidence.
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Sharon Moultry, Clerk
Human Relations Commission
325 John Knox Road
Building F, Suite 240
Tallahassee, Florida  32303-4149

Dana Baird, Esquire
General Counsel
Human Relations Commission
325 John Knox Road
Building F, Suite 240
Tallahassee, Florida  32303-4149

Ms. Mary E. Johnson
c/o Ms. Dorothy Johnson
1807 Golfview Boulevard
South Daytona, Florida  32119

Gary E. Thomas, Esquire
FISHER & PHILLIPS
1500 Resurgens Plaza
945 East Paces Ferry Road
Atlanta, Georgia  30326

              NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS

All parties have the right to submit to the agency written exceptions to this
Recommended Order.  All agencies allow each party at least ten days in which to
submit written exceptions.  Some agencies allow a larger period within which to
submit written exceptions.  You should contact the agency that will issue the
Final Order in this case concerning agency rules on the deadline for filing
exceptions to this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions to this Recommended Order
should be filed with the agency that will issue the Final Order in this case.
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                          STATE OF FLORIDA
                 DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS

J. T. MATTHEWS,                  )
                                 )
          Petitioner,            )
                                 )
vs.                              )   CASE NO. 93-1952
                                 )   FCHR NO. 92-2513
FLINT INK CORPORATION,           )
d/b/a DAVID M COMPANY,           )
                                 )
          Respondent.            )
_________________________________)

                          RECOMMENDED ORDER

     Pursuant to notice, the above-styled matter was heard before the Division
of Administrative Hearings by its duly designated Hearing Officer, Daniel M.
Kilbride, on July 30, 1993, in Orlando, Florida.  The following appearances were
entered:

                             APPEARANCES

     For Petitioner:  J. T. Matthews (pro se)
                      103 North Hampton Court
                      Sanford, Florida  32773

     For Respondent:  Stephen T. Ball, Esquire
                      Maguire, Voorhis & Wells
                      Post Office Box 633
                      Orlando, Florida  32802

                       STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

     Whether Petitioner, a member of a protected class, was suspended from his
position as a mixing/mill operator with the Respondent on or about February 11,
1992, on the basis of his race (Black), in violation of Section 760.10(1)(a),
Florida Statutes (1991).

     Whether Petitioner, a member of a protected class, received a written
reprimanded on March 5, 1992 in retaliation for filing a complaint of
discrimination or as part of a pattern of racial harassment through a hostile
work environment, in violation of Section 760.10 (7), Florida Statutes (1991).

                       PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

     Petitioner filed a Charge of Discrimination with the Florida Commission on
Human Relations on April 2, 1992.  Following an investigation, the Petitioner
filed a Petition for Relief from an Unlawful Employment Practice on April 2,
1993, and this matter was referred to the Division of Administrative Hearings
for a hearing de novo and the submission of a recommended order to the



Commission.  Respondent filed its Answer and Affirmative Defenses on April 28,
1993.  Upon proper notice, a formal hearing was conducted in Orlando, Florida on
July 30, 1993.

     At the hearing, Petitioner testified in his own behalf, and called seven
(7) witnesses.  Petitioner offered three exhibits into evidence.  Respondent
called four witnesses, and offered four exhibits into evidence.  During the
course of the hearing, Petitioner sought to elicit testimony relating to the
issues of hostile work environment and disparate treatment in the work place.
Respondent objected, and moved to strike.  The Hearing Officer reserved ruling
on the motions.  Respondent was permitted to have a continuing objection.  On
review of the pleadings and the testimony in this matter, Respondent's motion is
GRANTED.  Upon conclusion of the testimony, the parties made closing argument,
and were provided the opportunity to submit proposed findings of fact,
conclusions of law and legal argument within ten days of the conclusion of the
hearing.  A transcript was not ordered.  Petitioner has  filed proposed findings
which were received on August 6, 1993.  Respondent files its proposed findings
on September 3, 1993.  The parties' proposed findings have been given careful
consideration, and are addressed in the Appendix attached hereto.

     Based upon all of the evidence, the following findings of fact are
determined:

                         FINDINGS OF FACT

     1.  The Respondent David M Company is a subsidiary of Flint Ink Corporation
and is in the business of manufacturing a specialized type of printing paper.
Respondent is an employer under the Florida Human Rights Act of 1977, as
amended.

     2.  Petitioner has been employed with David M Company for approximately
four years as an operator.  Petitioner is an African-American, and a member of a
protected class.  He is the only African-American who is assigned to work in the
Mill/Mixing Room.

     3.  Due to missing and unaccounted for equipment, Respondent had made a
business decision to purchase new lockers for the shop employees in early
February, 1992.  The purchase of these new lockers was to help deal with the
loss of equipment due to negligence and/or pilfering.  The old lockers were
disposed of by donation to a local school.

     4.  On or about February 11, 1992, Petitioner's supervisor, Jeff Bardusch,
was in the process of reissuing new safety equipment to his employees, including
Petitioner.  They were to be stored in the new lockers with combination locks.
They ran out of goggles prior to distribution to Petitioner.  Those workers who
received safety goggles were white.

     5.  Petitioner complained that he was being assigned to a work detail
without proper safety equipment (safety goggles).  Additional safety goggles had
been ordered by Respondent, and would have been provided to Petitioner within
the next day or two.  As Petitioner was being reissued his remaining safety
equipment, he also objected to signing a form stating that he had read and
agreed to abide by the new safety rules and regulations.  These safety rules and
regulations had been discussed by all the employees for several months, and had
been adopted and approved by all his coworkers.



     6.  Petitioner was told by his supervisor, Jeff Bardusch, that the rules
had been in committee for three months, and he had ample time to voice any
objections.  He was told he could discuss this matter with his EIG/SPC team
later in the day, and he should return to work.

     7.  Not satisfied with this response, Petitioner requested to meet with
Jeff Bardusch's supervisor, Mark Monahan, the Production Manager.  Petitioner
again complained to Mr. Monahan that he did not agree with some of the new
safety rules and regulations.  Petitioner was told to place his complaints in
writing and to return to work.

     8.  Instead of returning to work, Petitioner proceeded outside the chain of
command to the General Manager's (a/k/a President) office, Mark Barrington, to
lodge a complaint.  The General Manager instructed Petitioner to go through the
proper chain of command to voice his complaints.

     9.  As Petitioner was meeting with the General Manager, Jeff Bardusch
advised Ed Noble, the Plant Manager (a/k/a Branch Manager), that Petitioner had
gone outside the chain of command, and had gone directly to the General
Manager's office with a complaint.  The General Manager is the supervisor of the
Plant Manager.

     10.  Ed Noble instructed Jeff Bardusch to have Petitioner come to see him
as soon as Petitioner left the General Manager's office.

     11.  Jeff Bardusch brought Petitioner to the Plant Manager who verbally
reprimanded Petitioner for going outside the chain of command, and not returning
to work as instructed by two supervisors.  This was not the first time
Petitioner had gone outside the chain of command.

     12.  Petitioner became very hostile and angry with Mr. Noble, and pounded
his fists on Mr. Noble's desk.  Petitioner was told to "clock out" and go home.

     13.  Instead of clocking-out as he was instructed, Petitioner went back to
the General Manager's office, and stood outside the General Manager's office
door.  Mr. Noble followed Petitioner and again asked him if he had clocked-out,
and was leaving work as he had been instructed.  Petitioner said he had not, and
that he was going to see the General Manager again, and call Corporate
headquarters.

     14.  Petitioner was told that if he did not clock-out and leave the plant
as he was told, he would have him escorted from the premises.  Petitioner then
left the area outside the General Manager's office, and proceeded to his work
area.

     15.  Petitioner picked up his belongings, and started for the exit door.
At that point, Petitioner turned around, and went back to Mr. Noble, shaking his
fist in Mr. Noble's face in a threatening manner, and verbalizing his discontent
with Mr. Noble's decision.

     16.  Petitioner was suspended for three days for insubordination.

     17.  Petitioner returned to work on February 14, 1992.

     18.  During Petitioner's absence, the old lockers were removed from the
plant premises for donation to the local school.



     19.  During the removal, Petitioner's locker had to be cleaned out by his
coworkers and, at least two pair of safety goggles were found in Petitioner's
locker.  These were the same type safety goggles that Petitioner claimed he did
not have to complete his work assignment on February 11.  In addition to the
safety goggles, other personal items belonging to Petitioner were inventoried.

     20.  No one else shared this locker with him at the time of the incident.
Petitioner had previously shared this locker with James Lowe.  Lowe had left
David M Company in 1991, a year before this incident occurred.

     21.  Petitioner's explanation that he didn't know how goggles got in his
locker, or who they belonged to is not credible.

     22.  On or about February 15, 1992, Petitioner was issued a new pair of
safety goggles by Respondent.  After Petitioner returned from his suspension,
Petitioner requested a meeting with Plant Manager, Ed Noble.  On February 19,
1992, a meeting took place with Petitioner, Ed Noble, and Petitioner's
supervisor, Jeff Bardusch.  At that meeting Mr. Noble discussed with Petitioner
his concerns and counseled Petitioner that he needed to improve his behavior and
work performance.  At no time during the meeting was Petitioner threatened or
retaliated against in any manner.  Nor was the topic of racial discrimination
ever discussed by Petitioner or anyone else.  Petitioner filed a charge of
discrimination with the Florida Commission on Human Relations on April 2, 1992.

     23.  On March 5, 1992, Petitioner received a Notice of Disciplinary Action
from his supervisor, Jeff Bardusch, for loafing, loitering, or engaging
unauthorized visiting during work hours and taking excessive breaks.  This was
in violation of Respondent's work rules, "Minor Violations", Rules #3 and #8.

     24.  On that same day, Petitioner was also given a second Notice of
Disciplinary Action for engaging in careless or negligent acts which cause, or
could cause personal injury or property damage in accordance with Respondent's
work rules, "Major Violations", Rule #5.

     25.  The latter incident occurred when Petitioner was observed by his
supervisor pushing the two-tier rubber holding carts across the mill room floor,
crashing them into the metal carts.

     26.  Other incidents occurring subsequent to March 5, 1992, relating to
Petitioner on his coworkers do not demonstrate a pattern of discriminatory
conduct directed to Petitioner or other members of a protected class by the
employer.

                        CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

     27.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has jurisdiction over the
subject matter of this proceeding, and the parties thereto, pursuant to
subsection 120.57(1), Florida Statutes and Rule 22T-8.016(1), Florida
Administrative Code.

     28.  The State of Florida, under the legislative scheme contained in
Florida Statutes Chapter 760, incorporates and adopts the legal principles and
precedents established in the federal anti-discrimination laws specifically set
forth under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 as amended 42 USC Section
2000e et seq.  The Florida law prohibiting unlawful employment practices is
found in Section 760.10, Florida Statutes.  This section prohibits discharge or



otherwise to discriminate against any individual with respect to compensation,
terms, conditions, or privileges of employment because of such individual's
race. (Sec. 760.10(1)(a).

     29.  The Supreme Court established, and later clarified, the burden of
proof in disparate treatment cases in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S.
792 (1973) and Texas Department of Community Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248
(1981) and again in the very recent case of St. Mary's Honor Center v. Hicks,
U.S., __113 S.Ct. 2742 (1993).  The FCHR has adopted this evidentiary model.
Kilpatrick v. Howard Johnson Co., 7 FALR 5468,5475 (FCHR 1985).  McDonnell
Douglas places upon the Petitioner the initial burden of proving a prima facie
case of racial discrimination.

     30.  Judicial authorities have established the burden of proof for
establishing a prima facie case of discriminatory treatment:

            a.  The Petitioner is black;
            b.  The employee is qualified for the
          position;
            c.  The employee was subject to an adverse
          employment decision (he was suspended without
          pay from that position);
            d.  There is a causal connection between a
          and c.  Canino v. EEOC, 707 F.2d 468, 32 FEP
          Cases 139 (11th Cir. 1983); Smith v. Georgia,
          684 F.2d 729, 29 FEP Cases 1134 (11th Cir.
          1982); Lee v. Russell County Board of Education,
          684 F.2d 769, 29 FEP Cases 1508 (11th Cir.
          1982), appeal after remand, 744 F.2d 768, 36
          FEP Cases 22 (11th Cir. 1984).

     31.  To establish a prima facie case of racial harassment through a hostile
work environment, a Petitioner must establish that:

            a. The Petitioner is black;
            b.  He was subjected to unwelcome
          racial harassment;
            c.  The harassment affected the terms
          and conditions or privileges of employment;
            d.  The doctrine of respondeate superior
          is applicable.  Coney v. Department of Human
          Resources of the State of Georgia, 787 F.
          Supp. 1434 (M.D.Ga. 1992).

     32.  Proving a prima facie case serves to eliminate the most common
nondiscriminatory reasons for the Plaintiff's disparate treatment.  See,
Teamsters v. U.S., 431 U.S. 324, 358 and n. 44 (1977).  It is not, however, the
equivalent of a factual finding of discrimination.  It is simply proof of
actions taken by the employer from which discriminatory animus is inferred
because experience has proved that in the absence of any other explanation it is
more likely than not that those actions were bottomed on impermissible
considerations.  The presumption is that more often than not people do not act
in a totally arbitrary manner, without any underlying reason, in a business
setting.  Furnco Construction Corp. v. Waters, 438 U.S. 567, 576 (1978).



33.  Once the Plaintiff has succeeded in proving all the elements
necessary to establish a prima facie case, the employer must then articulate
some legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the challenged employment
decision.  The employer is required only "to produce admissible evidence which
would allow the trier of fact to conclude that the employment decision had not
been motivated by discriminatory animus."  Texas Department of Community Affairs
v. Burdine, at 257.  The employer "need not persuade the court that it was
actually motivated by the proffered reasons . . . it is sufficient if the
[employer's] evidence raises a genuine issue of fact as to whether it
discriminated against the Plaintiff."  Id. at 254-255.  This burden is
characterized as "exceedingly light."  Perryman v. Johnson Products Co., Inc.,
698 F.2d 1138 (11th Cir. 1983).

     34.  Once the employer articulates a legitimate reason for the action
taken, the evidentiary burden shifts back to the Petitioner who must prove that
the reason offered by the employer for its decision is not the true reason, but
is merely a pretext.  The employer need not prove that it was actually motivated
by the articulated nondiscriminatory reasons or that the replacement was more
qualified than the Petitioner.  Texas Department of Community Affairs v.
Burdine, at 257-8.

     35.  In Burdine, the Supreme Court emphasized that the ultimate burden of
persuading the trier of fact that the Respondent intentionally discriminated
against the Petitioner remains at all times with the Petitioner.  Texas
Department of Community Affairs v. Burdine, at 253.  The Court confirmed this
principle again in St. Mary's Honor Center v. Hicks, 1113 S.Ct. 2742 (1993).

     36.  In the case sub judice, the Petitioner has established that he is an
African American (a member of a protected class) and was qualified for the
position.  The Petitioner has also established that he was subjected to an
adverse employment decision by his suspension from employment without pay.  The
Plaintiff came forward with sufficient evidence to meet his initial burden of
proof on the issue of racial discrimination.

     37.  The Petitioner wholly failed to meet his burden of proof on the issue
of racial harassment

     38.  The sequence of events then required the Respondent to come forward
and "articulate" valid, nondiscriminatory reasons for the resulting suspension
and reprimands.  The Company has done so.

     39.  The Respondent established by a preponderance of the testimony and
business records that the Petitioner had been suspended, and later reprimanded
due to his violation of major and minor work rules.  The evidence presented by
the Company and elicited from witnesses at the formal hearing on this matter
establish that the Petitioner was suspended for three days on February 11, 1992,
for insubordination.  This insubordination resulted from the Petitioner shaking
his fist in the face of the Plant Manager in a threatening manner.  This was a
major violation of company policy which could have resulted in termination.  The
basis for the decision was on a nondiscriminatory reason, and was not
pretextual.  In addition, Respondent has articulated a valid, nondiscriminatory
reason as the basis for its decision to issue two Notices of Disciplinary Action
on March 5, 1992, and the evidence was credible that these actions were
warranted.  Further, Petitioner's aggressive, outspoken personality created
conflicts with management which was disruptive to the company's function.
Respondent could properly consider this when making employment decisions.  See:
Hale v. Cuyahoga County Welfare Dept., ___F.2d___, 51 FEP 1264 (6th Cir. 1989).



     40.  Petitioner has failed to produce any evidence to demonstrate that the
Respondent's articulated reasons for its actions in February and March, 1992,
were "pretextual".

                          RECOMMENDATION

     Based on the foregoing findings of fact and conclusions of law, it is

     RECOMMENDED that a Final Order be issued which DENIES the Petition for
Relief.

     DONE AND ENTERED this 17th day of September, 1993, in Tallahassee, Leon
County, Florida.

                              ___________________________________
                              DANIEL M. KILBRIDE
                              Hearing Officer
                              Division of Administrative Hearings
                              The DeSoto Building
                              1230 Apalachee Parkway
                              Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1550
                              (904)488-9675

                              Filed with the Clerk of the
                              Division of Administrative Hearings
                              this 17th day of September, 1993.

         APPENDIX TO RECOMMENDED ORDER, CASE NO. 93-1952

     The following constitutes my specific rulings, in accordance with section
120.59, Florida Statutes, on findings of fact submitted by the parties.

     Proposed Findings of Fact Submitted by Petitioner:

     Accepted in substance:  unnumbered paragraphs 3, 4, 5, 6, 7,8, 10(in part),
19, 20, 23, 35(in part)
     Rejected as irrelevant, immaterial or a comment on the evidence: unnumbered
paragraphs:  1, 2, 9, 10(in part), 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 22, 24, 25, 26,
30, 31, 34, 36, 37
     Rejected as hearsay:  unnumbered paragraphs 11, 27, 28, 29, 30, 38, 39
     Rejected as against the greater weight of evidence:  unnumbered paragraphs
21(1), (2), & (3), 32, 33, 34, 35(in part), 36

     Proposed Findings of Fact Submitted by Respondent:

     Accepted: paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16,
18, 20(in part), 21, 22
     Rejected as irrelevant, immaterial or a comment on the evidence:
paragraphs 17, 19, 20(in part), 23, 24, 25
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J. T. Matthews (pro se)
103 North Hampton Court
Sanford, Florida  32773

Stephen T. Ball, Esquire
MAGUIRE, VOORHIS & WELLS
Post Office Box 633
Orlando, Florida  32802

Dana Baird
General Counsel
Florida Human Relations
  Commission
325 John Knox Road
Building F, Suite 240
Tallahassee, Florida  32303-4149

Margaret Jones, Clerk
Florida Human Relations
  Commission
325 John Knox Road
Building F, Suite 240
Tallahassee, Florida  32303-4149

              NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions to the Recommended
Order.  All agencies allow each party at least 10 days in which to submit
written exceptions.  Some agencies allow a larger period within which to submit
written exceptions.  You should consult with the agency that will issue the
Final Order in this case concerning their rules on the deadline for filing
exceptions to this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions to this Recommended Order
should be filed with the agency that will issue the Final Order in this case.
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